TGEGKXGF. '3213614235''33<6: <54. 'Vj qo cu'F 0J cm''Engtm''Uwrtgo g''Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER: SC13-1003

LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NUMBER: 16-2005-CF-010263

ALAN LYNDELL WADE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANN E. FINNELL Florida Bar No.: 0270040 2114 Oak St. Jacksonville, Florida 32204 904-791-1101 Fax: 904-791-1102 E-Mail: afinnell@fmnlawyers.com

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the Circuit Court's denial of Mr. Wade's Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.851.

Alan Lyndell Wade will be referred to as "Mr. Wade" or "Defendant Wade". References to the record of the direct appeal of the trial judgment and sentence in this case are designated DIR. ROA followed by the Volume number-Vol., followed by the appropriate p. number, e.g. (DIR. ROA Vol. I, p. 123). Citations to the record from the post-conviction evidentiary hearing will be designated as PC, followed by the appropriate p. number-p. e.g. (PC, p.123). References to Exhibits are designated by the record, followed by the exhibit number, followed by the appropriate p. number, e.g. (DIR, ROA, Vol. I, Exh. 1, p. 1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of a 3.851 motion for postconviction relief.

Mr. Wade, along with three co-defendants, Michael Jackson, Tiffany Cole and Bruce Nixon, were charged with two charges each of murder in the first degree, armed kidnapping, and armed robbery for the murders of Carol and Reggie Sumner on July 7, 2005. Court appointed counsel Refek Eler and Frank Tassone represented Defendant Wade at trial.

On October 22, 2007 trial commenced with jury selection for both Defendant Wade and Tiffany Cole, although the trials of each co-defendant had been severed. At the time of Defendant's jury selection, co-defendant Michael Jackson had already been convicted of all charges and sentenced to death. Codefendant Bruce Nixon had plead guilty to a lesser included offense and was participating as a state witness. Mr. Nixon was subsequently sentenced to 45 years.

The trial ended on October 24, 2007, with a jury verdict of guilty on all charges. The trial court adjudicated Mr. Wade guilty of all charges on that date.

On November 15, 2007, penalty phase commenced before the same jury that was empanelled for the guilt phase. Prior to the start of the penalty phase, the Court, on its own motion, excused one of the original 12 members of the venire

and substituted an alternate juror. The jurors returned a verdict recommending the death penalty by a vote of 11-1 on November 15, 2007.

A *Spence*r hearing commenced on December 13, 2007. Following the *Spencer* hearing, Mr. Wade was sentenced to death for the first degree murder of Carol Sumner; he was sentenced to death for the first degree murder of Reggie Sumner; he was sentenced to a concurrent sentence of life in prison for the kidnapping of Carol Sumner; he was sentenced to a concurrent sentence of life in prison for the kidnapping of Reggie Sumner; he was sentenced to a concurrent sentence of a concurrent sentence of life in prison for the kidnapping of Reggie Sumner; he was sentenced to a concurrent sentence of life in prison for the kidnapping of Reggie Sumner; he was sentenced to a concurrent sentence of fifteen years for the robbery of Carol Sumner and was sentenced to a concurrent sentence of 15 years for the robbery of Reggie Sumner. This Court on direct appeal upheld his convictions and sentences, including his death sentences. *Wade v. State*, 41 So.3d 857 (Fla. 2010).

Mr. Wade filed a notice of appeal on March 20, 2008, which was denied on May 6, 2010, rehearing denied August 4, 2010. *See Wade v. State*, 41 So.2d 857 (Fla. 2010). Thereafter, Mr. Wade filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of the United States that was denied on January 18, 2011. *See Wade v. Florida*, 131 S.Ct. 1004 (2011).

Mr. Wade filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence on December 27, 2012. The State filed a Response on February 23, 2012. Thereafter, Mr. Wade filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of

Conviction and Sentence on April 5, 2013, and a Renumbered Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence on June 29, 2012.

The Court issued a written Order dated August 7, 2012 granting an evidentiary hearing on Claims 2 and 3 and reserving ruling on the remaining claims. The evidentiary hearing was conducted September 25, 27 and 28, 2013. The trial court ordered transcripts of the hearing. Mr. Wade filed his written closing argument, Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum, on January 18, 2013. The State filed its written closing argument, State's Post-Evidentiary Hearing Memo, on February 7, 2012.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Wade relies on this Court's direct appeal opinion in *Wade v. State*, 41 So.3d 857 (Fla. 2010), for the statement of the facts of the trial. The evidence from the guilt phase was summarized by this Court in *Wade* from p.s 862 to 865 of its opinion. The evidence from the penalty phase was summarized by this Court in *Wade* on p. 865.

Mr. Wade presents the following statement of additional facts as to the evidence presented at trial and at the evidentiary hearing on each claim for which an evidentiary hearing was granted.

1. Evidence presented as to Claims 2A, 2D, 2E, 2F, 2G, 2H, dealt with ineffective assistance of guilt phase counsel.

Claim 2A argued that counsel failed to file a motion to suppress or otherwise object to the introduction of the contents of the motel room in which Defendant Wade was arrested, specifically keys purportedly belonging to the victim and Mr. Wade's cell phone. Testimony adduced during the original trial supported this claim: Police were aware that there were two missing persons in Jacksonville, Florida, and that the ATM card of the missing persons had been recently used in North Charleston (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 622). Surveillance photos from ATM machines were obtained (DIR. ROA, Vol XI p. 624). At the time it was known that Tiffany Cole rented a vehicle that fit the description of the vehicle used at the ATMs in the case (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 622). Police made contact with David Duncan, the brother of Tiffany Cole who advised that Tiffany, her boyfriend, Mr. Jackson, and a man named Allen were at a motel in North Charleston, South Carolina. David Duncan directed the police to a Best Western hotel and pointed out his sister's car and told them his sister was staying in Room 312 (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 624-626). Police talked to the hotel management and learned that two rooms were rented to Tiffany Cole, Room 312 and Room 302 (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 626-627). Police obtained keys to both rooms from hotel management, approached Room 302, and knocked on the door. Defendant Wade, the sole occupant of Room 302, answered the door (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 627-628). The curtains were drawn and it was dark (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 629). He was taken

into custody. A "protective sweep" was conducted of the motel room at that time (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 628). No additional persons were present in the room and there was no indication anyone else was staying in Room 302 (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 632). No female items were in the room (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 650). Police knew immediately that Mr.Wade was not the man in the ATM photographs and identified Jackson as the person in the photos (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 630). Nevertheless, Mr. Wade remained detained in handcuffs while a search warrant was obtained for his room. Keys to the victim's car and a cell phone were located in Defendant's room (DIR. ROA, Vol. XI, p. 631-632).

A search warrant was obtained for Room 302 subsequent to the arrest of Mr. Wade (PC. Def. Exh. 11). The warrant was insufficient on its face, and omitted relevant information that Wade was the sole occupant of Room 302 at the time of his arrest, omitted the fact of his arrest, omitted the fact that at the time of his detention police knew he was not the user of the victim's ATM card, omitted the fact that Michael Jackson and Tiffany Cole were the occupants of Room 312 and the fact of their arrest and continued detention, and omitted the fact that law enforcement had no information linking Alan Wade to the use of the victim's ATM card, or to any aspect of the disappearance of the victims.

Trial counsel Eler and Tassone testified in support of this claim at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Tassone acknowledged that he did not know why a

motion to suppress the keys and cell phone was not filed (PC, p. 59), only that Mr. Eler was the lead counsel on the guilt phase (PC, p. 59). Mr. Tassone admitted he would have filed a motion to suppress if he had apprehended the issue (PC, p. 60). Additionally, Mr. Tassone did not recall any conference with Mr. Eler about discussing trying to suppress the keys or the cell phone, did not recall what Mr. Eler filed or did not file, and did not recall Mr. Eler adopting a motion filed by the attorney for Mr. Jackson relating to Room 312 where Jackson and Cole were located (PC, p. 59-60).

Mr. Eler stated at the evidentiary hearing that he did not file a motion to suppress the items found in Room 302 where Defendant was located, because he "didn't think Defendant had standing" (PC, p. 554). He admitted adopting codefendant's motion to suppress relating to portions of the evidence found in Room 312 because "some evidence pointing to Defendant was found in that room" (PC, p. 556), and that "if it was granted then the warrant was defective" (PC, p. 600).

Mr. Tassone admitted the keys were damaging to the defense (PC, p. 61). Mr. Eler indicated that the keys were one of the three most damaging pieces of evidence which linked Defendant to the crime (PC, Def. Exh. 8) (PC, p. 586). He acknowledged he failed to file a motion to suppress the contents of Room 302 despite agreeing to the above facts (PC, p. 587). He acknowledged the keys were

important because they linked Defendant Wade to the victims' car (PC, p. 595).

At trial the State argued the following:

The key, the key to the crime, the Lincoln car keys...The Lincoln key was in his hotel room a few inches away from where he put his head down to bed, a few inches away from where his cell phone was. It was his room. It was in his room...Could you convict Alan Wade just based on that key? You probably could but it would be difficult...But when Bruce Nixon tells the police...that Alan Wade is the driver of that Lincoln he has no idea that key has been found in Alan Wade's room (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIII, p. 1054-55).

Claim 2D argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and therefore failing to preserve for appellate review the introduction during the State's case in chief of tape-recorded statements attributed to non-testifying co-defendant's Tifffany Cole and Michael Jackson. Detective Meecham recorded phone conversations between himself and Michael Jackson who was pretending to be victim Reggie Sumner. He also recorded phone conversations between himself and Tiffany Cole who was pretending to be victim Carol Sumner. During these phone conversations, Michael Jackson and Tiffany Cole were using subterfuge to try to convince the police that the victims were alive and well and they were legitimately accessing their own ATM card. These statements were set out at length at the trial and are contained in the trial transcript (DIR. ROA, Vol X, p. 532-553).

Trial counsel Eler and Tassone testified in support of this claim at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Eler testified at the evidentiary hearing that it was "my

style" to let the State present "any evidence about Michael Jackson and Tiffany Cole anytime so a jury could hear how much they were involved" (PC, p. 557). Mr. Tassone thought maybe that the statements were admissible under a coconspirator theory but agreed no motion was filed to exclude this evidence (PC, p. 66).

Mr. Eler testified at the evidentiary hearing that he thought the statements of Cole and Jackson were "helpful" to his strategy of blaming Jackson and Cole. He could not recall if he researched their admissibility (PC, p. 603). He stated he was "aware" the State was trying to tie Defendant Wade to these two co-defendants at the time these statements were admitted (PC, p. 604). He said he "considered objecting but it was definitely strategy" (PC, p. 604). "I viewed it more of a penalty phase case even though the jury would use it to convict under a principal theory" (PC, p. 605).

Claim 2E argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and therefore failing to preserve for appellate review the introduction in the State's case in chief of all the evidence seized from the motel room occupied by the co-defendants and not linked to or associated with Defendant Wade (DIR. ROA, Vol. 1, Exh. 73, 82, 83, 84, 87, 88, 89, 90, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 105).

The State argued in guilt phase closing argument the following: "[w]hen the search warrant is served the hotel rooms reveal bags of the Sumner's property, the victim's mail, wallets, incriminating documents and receipts and an \$8,000 check made payable to Alan Wade" (DIR. ROA Vol. XIII, p. 1044).

Counsel Eler testified in support of this claim. Mr. Eler admitted the State could not produce a witness to tie Defendant Wade to the items seized (PC, p. 605-606). He said his strategy was the "same" (PC. ROA, p. 607). Eler testified it "fit with his theme that Wade was an accessory after the fact" (PC, p.608).

The State argued in guilt phase closing argument the following: "[w]hen the search warrant is served the hotel **rooms** reveal bags of the Sumner's property, the victim's mail, wallets, incriminating documents and receipts and an \$8,000 check made payable to Alan Wade" (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIII, p. 1044) (emphasis added). The State also argued at length about the \$8000.00 check made out to Mr. Wade:

Again we have 8,000 reasons more to prove this case, 8,000 reasons that Reggie Sumner on his account was going to pay Alan Wade for his services, and the memo line on this is blank but we all know what it was for...It was Michael Jackson's way of saying, hey, Alan, thanks for standing by that grave and shoveling dirt on those people. 8,000 reasons why we know he's guilty (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIII, p. 1059-1060)... Alan Wade, the only of the four defendants whose name is found on a check from the Sumners' account, that's who did this crime with Bruce Nixon, Michael Jackson and Tiffany Cole (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIII, p. 1094).

Claim 2F argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and

therefore failing to preserve for appellate review the introduction during the State's

case in chief of surveillance still photos of co-defendant Michael Jackson using the victim's debit card at various ATM locations and related testimony and argument.

Attorneys Eler and Tassone testified in support of this claim. At the evidentiary hearing attorney Tassone admitted that he did not recall the state presenting any witness who could testify that Defendant Wade was present or had knowledge of the actions of Michael Jackson using the ATM machine (PC, p. 69-70). Mr. Tassone agreed that the State's theory was that Defendant Wade was guilty of the same things Jackson had done after the killings and that the State was trying to prove a "guilt by association" theme (PC, p. 70). Mr. Tassone admitted that photos of Jackson using the ATM machine helped the State establish the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance (PC, p. 70). He did not know whether an objection should have been interposed or not (PC, p. 71).

Attorney Eler agreed he did not object to these photographs because "my strategy was as long as Michael Jackson's picture is plastered up there in front of the jury and Alan Wade's picture wasn't that was better" (PC p. 610).

During the prosecutor's guilt phase argument, the State argued:

...the first ATM that was used was that 3:30ish ATM that was just a mile or so away from the Wal-Mart where Alan Wade and Tiffany Cole are (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIII p. 1042)... Michael Jackson and Michael Jackson alone is the person accessing that ATM card...He was the one accessing it but what we know, what we know is he (Alan Wade) was with them the whole time (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIII p. 1042).

Additionally, the State argued: "[y]ou can take Alan Wade's face and cut it out and you can stick it everywhere you see Michael Jackson's face on every one of those ATM pictures" (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIII, p. 1059).

Similarly, during the prosecutor's penalty phase closing argument:

We know that after they were dead this defendant continued to victimize Reggie and Carol Sumner spending their money, pawning their property, utilizing the goods that they had earned during their lifestyle—during their lifetime (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIV, p. 1292-1293).

Defense counsel did not object to this. The State next argued, "Mr. Wade and his cohorts needed time. **They** had to hit those ATM machines, approximately \$5000.00 worth. **They** had to pawn items. **They** had to read through documents, bank records, mail." (DIR. ROA, Vol. XIV, p. 1300) (emphasis added).

Claim 2G argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and therefore failing to preserve for appellate review testimony by Freida Ganey, Defendant's mother. The trial transcript reflects that Mrs. Ganey was called to testify that Defendant Wade had a drug problem and was hooked on drugs (DIR. ROA, Vol. X, p. 506-510), he dropped out of school in the 9th grade because of truancy (DIR. ROA, Vol. X, p. 508), he had no job or means of sustaining himself at the time of the offense (DIR. ROA, Vol. X, p. 509), he was thrown out of the her (his mother's) house (DIR. ROA, Vol. X, p. 509), and he did not make any statements to her that "Michael Jackson was going to pay him \$40,000.00 to help him in this crime" (DIR. ROA, Vol. X, p. 512). Additionally, following Mrs.

Ganey's denial of statements made to her by her son regarding Michael Jackson paying him for his assistance, and her failure to remember statements she made to Detective Gupton, the State called Detective Gupton. Without objection by Mr. Wade's trial counsel, Detective Gupton was allowed to present an audio recording between himself and Mrs. Ganey wherein she stated, "I will tell you this, because Bruce and Allen both told me this, that Mike promised them each \$40,000.00 to help him" (DIR. ROA, Vol. X p. 518).

Counsel Tassone and Eler testified in support of this claim at the evidentiary hearing. Counsel Tassone testified at the evidentiary hearing that he thought an objection should have been interposed to questions that elicited information about the bad character of Defendant Wade during guilt phase (PC, p. 75), but could see a strategic reason for not objecting which he did not elaborate upon (PC, p. 76-77). Mr. Tassone agreed it was harmful to Defendant Wade that his mother testified in guilt phase regarding his bad behavior and character (PC, p. 77). Mr. Tassone agreed that calling Detective Gupton to impeach Mrs. Ganey could have been objected to but that it may have been a strategy (PC, p. 78). When asked to elaborate on the strategy he said that since it was the mother testifying they held out "hope" that she would say "something helpful" (PC, p. 80). Mr. Tassone had no recollection of researching the issue and said that researching issues relating to the guilt phase would have been Mr. Eler's responsibility (PC, p. 82-83).

Counsel Eler testified at the evidentiary hearing that he thought admission of Defendant Wade's bad character during the guilt phase was "good for mitigation" (PC, p. 611). Mr. Eler acknowledged he was aware through depositions that Mrs. Ganey had denied making these statements to Detective Gupton but did not research the issue (PC, p. 612). He did not object when Detective Gupton was called to impeach Mrs. Ganey and introduce the damaging statement of Mr. Wade because in his mind it demonstrated "bad State beating up on the poor guy's mom" (PC, p. 613). He went on to elaborate in general about his theory of objecting: "[t]o me it is a big red herring to keep objecting and if I were a juror I'd want to know what they are hiding" (PC, p. 614). When questioned about perhaps approaching the bench to raise the objection or making it via pretrial motion he said he considered it but "outweighed the fact that we would get more sympathy" (PC, p. 615).

Claim 2H argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to object and therefore preserving for appeal a variety of improper statements made by Detective Meecham and Officer Rowan in which they violated the confrontation clause, testified regarding hearsay and gave improper opinion testimony. The trial transcript reflected the following examples of this testimony: Det. Meecham learned the victims had health issues and should be on medication if not at home (DIR. ROA Vol. X, p. 522), Detective Meecham learned from a bank statement

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