TGEGKXGF."3414214235"36-25-65. "Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq."Engtm"Uvrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALAN LYNDELL WADE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC13-1003

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

RENEE M. RANCOUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 81988

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 Telephone: (850) 414-3583 Facsimile: (850) 487-0997 capapp@myfloridalegal.com Renee.Rancour@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

When courts are examining the performance of an experienced trial counsel, the presumption that his conduct was reasonable is even stronger. Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1316 (11th Cir. 2000) (noting defense counsel's extensive experience as a trial lawyer where counsel had 13 years experience and had tried more than thirty homicide cases, most of which were capital cases).

Mr. Eler used his experience to develop a reasonable strategy for Wade's defense, and the phone call advanced the defense theory significantly. (PCR 5/958-9). Wade has not overcome the strong presumption that the strategy was reasonable. He not met his burden to show that counsel's performance was deficient. The trial court properly determined that the decision not to object to evidence that implicated the

codefendants was a reasonable strategy.

Wade does not argue in his initial brief how he believes he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to the phone call. motion for postconviction relief, he made conclusory allegation of prejudice. There is no reasonable probability of a different outcome if counsel had objected. Any objection would have been overruled, and the existence of other substantial evidence against Wade would have resulted in a conviction even without the phone call. Wade has sufficiently alleged or established prejudice. Denial of relief was proper as to this sub-claim.

Evidence from codefendants' motel room

The search warrant in this case provided for the searches of rooms 302 and 312 at the Best Western. Room 312 was rented by Cole and occupied by Jackson and Cole. Found in room 312 were: items purchased on a shopping spree with the victims' money (sport jerseys, sneakers, jewelry, a watch), a suitcase full of the Sumners' paperwork, the Sumners' mail, the Sumners' wallets, items indicative of a party-like atmosphere, items missing from the Sumners' home, the Sumners' bank records, and a check for \$8,000 made out to Alan Wade to be drawn on the Sumners' bank account. (ROA XI/632-38, PCR 3/513).

Wade argues that the trial court erred in denying his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the

admission into evidence of the items seized from room 312. Wade acknowledges these items were relevant to show that someone took the items from the Sumners' home, but he argues that they were not relevant to prove that Wade committed the charged crimes. (IB 47).

The trial court found that the evidence seized from room 312, including the check made out to Wade, was relevant to link Wade to the murders. (PCR 5/959). The trial court therefore determined that the evidence was clearly admissible and any objection by trial counsel would have been without basis and inappropriate. *Id*.

The defense strategy was to show that Jackson and Cole were the real perpetrators, and that Wade was not involved with the murders, kidnapping or burglary. (PCR 9/1632-1633). Admission of these items into evidence fit into the defense strategy and aided in showing the jury how much Jackson and Cole were involved and how little Wade was involved. (PCR 9/1637-38). Trial counsel testified that the \$8,000 check supported the theory that Wade was paid to get rid of evidence, and was just an accessory after the fact. (PCR 10/1689). For this reason, he did not object evidence that showed that Jackson and Cole were more culpable than Wade. (PCR 9/1638).

The trial court agreed that the weight and number of items discovered in the room occupied by Jackson and Cole gave the

impression that they were much more involved than Wade, and that was consistent with the defense theory. (PCR 5/959). Trial counsel made a reasonable tactical decision not to object.

There is no prejudice in the failure to object to the items founds in room 312 since any objection to this evidence would have been overruled. Wade failed to show that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different if trial counsel had performed as Wade alleges he should have. The trial court's order denying relief as to this sub-claim should be affirmed.

Still images of Jackson using victims' ATM card

Wade next argues that the trial court erred in denying his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the introduction of still images of Jackson using the Sumners' ATM card to make withdrawals from their account. (State's Trial Exhibits 19, 20, 22; ROA X/525-30). Wade acknowledges that this evidence was relevant to show the actions of codefendant Jackson, but contends that it was not relevant to show the culpability of Wade. (IB 49). Wade argues on appeal that the trial court erred in "fail[ing] to consider [that] there was no competent proof linking Defendant Wade to Jackson's actions." (IB 50).

The trial court ruled that this claim was without merit.

The photos were clearly relevant to the State's case. (PCR

5/959-60). They demonstrated the timeline the defendants followed, the vehicle they used, and that there was a pecuniary interest in the crimes. *Id.* Additionally, the photos were consistent with Wade's theory that Jackson was the leader in carrying out the crimes against the Sumners. *Id.*

Trial counsel did not object to evidence that inculpated Jackson and Cole because such evidence aided the defense strategy theory. (PCR 9/1638). The trial record supports Mr. Eler's assertion that he did not object to the photos in order to use them to point to Jackson's guilt and draw the focus away from Wade. Mr. Eler took the opportunity in his cross examination of Detective Meacham and Detective Rowan to point out that these were pictures of only Jackson using the ATM card, and that there were no photographs of Wade doing the same. (ROA X/565, ROA XI/642).

As previously noted, trial counsel was not ineffective in exercising a reasonable strategic decision not to object to the admission of evidence consistent with the defense theory of the case. Whether there was "competent proof" linking Wade to Jackson's actions or not is irrelevant to the IAC claim. Trial counsel did not object to the photos because they were helpful to Wade's defense. Wade has not overcome the strong presumption that the strategy was reasonable under the circumstances.

In addition to the fact that any objection would have been

overruled, there is no reasonable probability of a different outcome if the photos had not been admitted. There was substantial evidence against Wade without the photos of Jackson using the victims' ATM card. Trial counsel was not ineffective for declining to object to this evidence, and the trial court did not err in denying relief.

Frieda Ganey's Testimony

Wade's mother, Frieda Ganey, was called by the prosecution to testify at the guilt phase to explain the relationship between Wade, Jackson, and Nixon. She testified that Wade was about 16 years old when he met the very manipulative Jackson. (ROA X/505-06). Nixon and Wade were childhood friends. (ROA X/504-05). Her testimony linked Wade to Nixon and Jackson near the time of the murders. (ROA X/510-13).

Improper Character Testimony

Wade claim that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because no objection was made to improper character testimony given by Ms. Ganey. (ROA X/503-514). Following the evidentiary hearing on this claim, the trial court found that Ms. Ganey's testimony was relevant and admissible in the State's case against Wade. (PCR 5/960). Trial counsel's decision not to object was not ineffective or inappropriate. *Id.* Rather, the decision not to object was a reasonable trial strategy, consistent with the theory of defense. *Id.*

Trial counsel's strategy was to show that Jackson manipulated Wade into the conspiracy after the murders, not before. Ms. Ganey's testimony that Wade was vulnerable to Jackson's influence because Wade was using drugs, he had been thrown out of the house, and because Jackson was older than Wade, was perfectly consistent with the defense strategy.

Ms. Ganey's testimony was also very helpful for mitigation purposes. (PCR 10/1692). It was consistent with the penalty phase theme that Wade was under the influence of drugs and alcohol at the time of the murders. As a whole, Ms. Ganey's testimony was helpful to Wade. Mr. Eler even wondered why the State had called her as a witness, given that she placed Jackson in the role of the manipulator. (PCR 9/1639). Penalty phase counsel Frank Tassone also testified that it helped the defense credibility to elicit the same testimony in the penalty phase that the State had elicited at the guilt phase. (PCR 7/1274).

Mr. Eler did consider objecting to parts of Ms. Ganey's testimony, but ultimately decided that any benefit of an objection would be outweighed by the sympathy the defense would get (PCR 10/1696) as a result of the prosecution "beating up" on Wade's innocent mother (PCR 9/1639). Because Ms. Ganey's testimony supported the defense theory, counsel's decision not to object was a reasonable trial strategy.

Wade also failed to demonstrate prejudice here. In light of

the strong evidence against Wade, there is no reasonable probably that the jury would have found Wade not guilty but for the alleged "improper character testimony."

Impeachment

Wade also argues that counsel should have objected to Ms. Ganey's testimony because she was called for the sole purpose of impeachment though Detective Gupton.

Prior to the trial, Ms. Ganey called Detective Gupton and told him that Wade had confessed to her that Jackson was going to give him and Nixon \$40,000 for committing the murders. (ROA X/518-19). Although this statement was made during a recorded phone call, Ms. Ganey denied any memory of it or any other conversations with the Detective. (ROA X/512). At trial she denied that Wade ever spoke to her about the crimes or that he told her that Jackson was going to pay him for his participation in the murders. Id. Although she claimed not to remember the conversation with Detection Gupton, she also said that she would not have lied to him. Id. Detective Gupton testified after Ms. Ganey, and the recording of the phone call in which Ms. Ganey advised that Wade was promised \$40,000 by Jackson was admitted into evidence without objection. (ROA X/518; State's Exhibit 178).

Wade claims that the trial court failed to address the impeachment of Ms. Ganey. (IB 52). It is clear that the trial

court found that Ms. Ganey's testimony was otherwise relevant and admissible (PCR 5/960), and therefore she was not called for the sole purpose of impeachment.

A witness who testifies to establish any significant fact in the litigation may be impeached by means of a prior inconsistent statement as to any other matter testified to. Hernandez v. State, 31 So. 3d 873, 879 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (citations omitted). The primary purpose of Ms. Ganey's testimony was to explain the relationship between Wade and Jackson and Nixon, and that they were together near the time of the murders. (ROA X/510). She also testified relevantly that Wade did not have a job and or any means to support himself at the time of the murders. (ROA X/509).

Ms. Ganey was not called for the sole purpose of impeachment. An objection on that ground would have been overruled. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to make a meritless objection. Wade has not demonstrated prejudice here. In light of the strong evidence against him, there is no reasonable probably that the jury would have found Wade not guilty, but for the alleged improper impeachment of Ms. Ganey. The trial court's order denying relief as to Ms. Ganey's testimony was proper and should be affirmed.

Testimony of Law Enforcement Officers

Wade next argues that the trial court erred in denying his

claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to "much of" the testimony of Detective Meacham, Detective Rowan, and Agent Alred. (IB 55-62). Wade claims that much of the testimony of these witnesses constituted improper hearsay and improper opinion. *Id*.

In its order denying postconviction relief, the trial court noted that virtually all of the evidence introduced through Detective Rowan, Detective Meacham, and Agent Alred was relevant to the State's prosecution. (PCR 5/961). Almost none of it was hearsay because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Id. The trial court also found that the bulk of the testimony offered by these witnesses supported the defense theory of the case. Id. Their testimony as a whole implicated Jackson and Cole in the murders and was consistent with the theory that Wade was not involved until after the murders. Id. Wade failed to meet his burden to show that the performance of trial counsel was deficient.

The trial court correctly determined that the testimony Wade identified as inadmissible hearsay was not actually hearsay, because it was not offered for its truth. For example, much of the testimony of the officers was used to show how law enforcement located the killers. Additionally, some of the evidence introduced through these three law enforcement witnesses was not hearsay for other reasons, e.g. business

records exception, statements generated by a machine, as opposed to human generated statements made by a declarant, see e.g., Bowe v. State, 785 So. 2d 531 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (numbers on caller ID and pager display not hearsay because they were generated by a machine, not a person capable of being a "declarant" within the definition of the hearsay rule).

Many of the statements were readily admissible through other witnesses. Even if some hearsay statements were admitted through the officers, an objection would have been futile since the State could have called other witnesses (record custodians, etc.) to offer the same testimony.

Wade specifically addresses testimony given by Deputy United States Marshal David Alred regarding his job description and his knowledge of cellular technology. (IB 61-62). Wade mistakenly asserts that Agent Alred testified that he arrested Wade after stating that his job was to "arrest and locate" fugitives. (ROA X/591). Agent Alred did not testify that he arrested Wade, but he did testify factually that his job is to "arrest and locate fugitives." Id. The U.S. Marshal Service is the managing agency of the fugitive task force in Northeast Florida. Id. Wade does not provide a basis for an objection to this testimony. He does not explain how counsel's performance was deficient nor does he indicate how he was prejudiced by this testimony. Conclusory allegations cannot be the basis of a

finding that counsel was ineffective. Randolph v. State, 853 So. 2d 1051, 1055 n.3 (Fla. 2003) (conclusory allegations rendered several of Randolph's post-conviction claims insufficiently pled).

Wade's argument that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Agent Alred's testimony regarding cellular towers was also properly rejected by the trial court. A review of the record demonstrates that Agent Alred explained that the Marshal Service is one of the leading agencies to use training and experience to exploit technical information pertaining to cellular phones. (ROA X/591). Agent Alred also testified that through the course of his work he has developed contact with various cell phone providers. *Id.* It is clear from the record that Agent Alred does have training and experience in cell phone technology. An objection to his testimony regarding cell phone towers would have been baseless. Counsel was not deficient for failing to make a baseless objection.

Even if trial counsel had performed as Wade alleges he should have, Wade cannot show that there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome. The objections would have been overruled. Even if sustainable objections had been made, the State would have been able to admit the evidence through other witnesses. The trial court's order denying relief as to this sub-claim should be affirmed.

Attorney-Client Relationship

On appeal, the IAC claim regarding Wade's relationship with his attorneys is addressed in the initial brief only under the heading of "Statement of the Facts." (IB 19-21). Wade simply restates part of the argument he made below and does not the reasoning for his claim that the trial court erred in denying relief. As such, the attorney-client relationship is not raised as an issue or sufficiently briefed, and it should not be considered here. To merely refer to arguments presented during the postconviction proceedings without further elucidation is not sufficient to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived. Doorbal v. State, 983 So. 2d 464, 482 (Fla. 2008). Should the Court decide to consider this claim, the State's response is as follows.

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